FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 12/8/2021 2:51 PM FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 12/8/2021 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

SUPREME COURT NO. 100455-9

NO. 80692-1-I

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

JERRY WOOD, JR.,

Petitioner.

# ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR SNOHOMISH COUNTY

The Honorable Mary E. Dingledy, Judge

PETITION FOR REVIEW

JARED B. STEED Attorney for Petitioner

NIELSEN KOCH, PLLC 1908 East Madison Seattle, WA 98122 (206) 623-2373

## **

#### A. <u>IDENTITY OF PETITIONER/COURT OF APPEALS</u> <u>DECISION</u>

Petitioner Jerry Wood, Jr., appellant below, asks this Court to grant review pursuant to RAP 13.4 of the Court of Appeals' published decision in <u>State v. Wood, Jr.</u>, \_\_ Wn. App. 2d \_\_, \_\_ P.3d \_\_ (No. 80692-1-I, filed November 8, 2021) (Appendix).

#### B. <u>ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW</u>

1. Was Wood, Jr. denied his constitutional right to counsel where defense counsel's disclosure of evidence to the prosecution created multiple conflicts that prevented his effective representation of Wood, Jr.? RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), (3).

2a. Was Wood, Jr.'s motion for a new trial improperly denied where even the prosecution acknowledged that the newly discovered evidence was circumstantially relevant to Wood, Jr.'s state of mind and would have been material to his defense? RAP 13.4(b)(2), (3).

2b. Was defense counsel ineffective where his failure to exercise due diligence in locating the evidence before trial

-1-

denied Wood, Jr. a witness necessary to his defense, and was also a basis for denying the motion for new trial? RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), (3).

3. Was Wood, Jr. denied his constitutional right to testify in his own defense when the trial court refused to allow the defense to reopen its case to allow Wood, Jr. to testify about additional charges, thereby prejudicing his case? RAP 13.4(b)(2), (3).

#### C. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE<sup>1</sup></u>

#### 1. <u>Trial Proceedings</u>

In early 2018, Wood, Jr. was in the Snohomish County Jail on a charge of second degree rape by forcible compulsion which allegedly occurred a year earlier against K.M. CP 210-11.

Wood, Jr. was housed for several days with Anthony Baldonado. 2RP<sup>2</sup> 2018-20, 2080. They were later placed in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> A more detailed statement of facts is presented in the Briefs of Appellant (BOA), at pages 5-41, 81-82 (No. 80692-1-I), and 3-13 (No. 81660-8-I).

separate housing units on the same floor from mid-December 2018 to January 2019. 2RP 2021-22, 2082-83. A former gang member, Baldonado was known as "Creeper" and he knew Wood, Jr. as "K-Doe". 2RP 1508, 1524, 2067-68, 2073, 2080, 2086, 2187.

Wood, Jr. offered to post Baldonado's bail in exchange for help. 2RP 2087-89. Wood, Jr. passed two books to Baldonado. 2RP 2089-90, 2112, 2414-15. The books contained handwriting which gave a physical description and location of K.M. Baldonado was to either "babysit for 40 days" or provide a lethal amount of heroin to K.M. In exchange, Wood, Jr. would provide Baldonado with a car and money. 2RP 1422, 1453-73, 1515-19, 2112-2127. Comparison of the handwriting in the books was consistent with Wood, Jr.'s handwriting. 2RP 2323-24, 2358.

 $<sup>^2</sup>$  The index to the record citations is in the BOAs at 5, n.1 (No. 80692-1-I), and 3, n. 3 (No. 81660-8-I).

On January 25, 2018, Rene Wene paid \$300 toward Baldonado's bail. 2RP 1944-47. Two days later, Wood, Jr.'s mother, Shirley Malone, paid the remaining \$450. 2RP 1944-45; 3RP 79. Baldonado and Malone never met or communicated. 2RP 2179-80, 2214-15.

Baldonado ripped the pages out of the books. 2RP 2094-95, 2193. He planned to give them to his attorney in hopes of working out a deal for his own criminal matters. 2RP 2096, 2223. Instead, Snohomish County detective Ted Betts learned of the allegations. 2RP 2097-2100. Baldonado gave a statement to police. 2RP 1421-22, 2100-01. He denied that Wood, Jr. ever retracted his prior communications. 2RP 1517, 2128-29.

Baldonado was later rearrested. 2RP 2129. As part of his subsequent guilty plea, he agreed to testify against Wood, Jr. 2RP 2130-32. Baldonado was subsequently confronted by other inmates about his cooperation. 2RP 1475-76, 2132-35, 2138-39. Baldonado was told to sign an affidavit retracting his prior statements against Wood, Jr. 2RP 2141, 2145-47, 2172-73, 2191.

Baldonado signed the affidavit and gave it to another inmate, Andrew Tisdale. 2RP 2147-48, 2168-69, 2178-79, 2192, 2236. Tisdale would then forward the affidavit to defense counsel. 2RP 2147, 2164-69. A handwriting analysis showed that Baldonado wrote the body of the affidavit, while Tisdale wrote the heading. 2RP 2330-33. It was uncertain who wrote Baldonado's signature. 2RP 2332.

Although he signed the affidavit recanting his allegations against Wood, Jr., Baldonado also wrote a letter to the prosecutor indicating that he still intended to cooperate. 2RP 2172-73, 2236-38; 3RP 47-48.

Tisdale refused to be interviewed but identified Baldonado to other inmates as the person cooperating with police against Wood, Jr. 2RP 2364-66; 3RP 51. Tisdale's prison cell contained a two-page letter which identified Baldonado as "Creeper" and a "rat". 2RP 2377-78, 2381; 3RP 53-54. The

-5-

handwriting on the letter was consistent with Wood, Jr.'s handwriting. 2RP 2334-41. A search of Malone's telephone number also brought up Tisdale's prison pin number. 2RP 2374, 2403-05; 3RP 19, 48-49, 80. Malone had spoken to Tisdale and suggested where to send the recantation affidavit. 3RP 87-88.

Based on this evidence, additional charges of first degree murder criminal solicitation and first degree kidnapping criminal solicitation, were added. CP 167-68. Wood, Jr.'s requests to have the cases severed for trial were denied. 2RP 181, 350-60, 364-66; 3RP 452-54; CP 111-17, 169-72.

Wood, Jr. testified only as to the rape charge. RP 6-7, 16-17; 3RP 138-44. The defense rested later that same day. 3RP 221. On the next court date, Wood, Jr. requested to reopen his testimony so that he could testify as to the remaining counts. RP 6-7, 16-17; 3RP 258-61, 268.

Upon further reflection Wood, Jr. believed his testimony on the conspiracy to commit kidnapping and murder was

-6-

"significant and vital to his defense." RP 47-48; 3RP 260, 267-68. Consistent with the prosecutor's objections, the court refused to allow Wood, Jr. to retake the stand, concluding the State would be prejudiced by the need to call rebuttal witnesses and the trial delay caused if Wood, Jr.'s testimony was reopened. 3RP 272-73.

A jury found Wood, Jr. not guilty of intimidating a witness conspiracy. CP 68; 4RP 24. No verdict was returned on the charge of second degree rape. CP 66-67, 71; 4RP 23-24, 28-29. Wood, Jr. was convicted of first degree murder criminal solicitation and first degree kidnapping criminal solicitation. CP 69-70; 4RP 24. Wood, Jr. later pled guilty to an amended charge of third degree assault against K.M. CP 43-65; 3RP 408-14.

#### 2. <u>Conflicted Counsel</u>

Walter Peale became Wood, Jr.'s counsel on March 15, 2018. CP 283-85. On September 24, 2019, the State filed

another amended information charging Wood, Jr. with intimidating a witness conspiracy. CP 147-48; 2RP 341-44.

The prosecution indicated that it did not intend to call Tisdale to testify. 2RP 420. The prosecution did intend to offer several writings relevant to the intimidating a witness charge.

The first was the note found in Tisdale's cell, purportedly written by Wood, Jr., but addressed to a third party, which described aspects of his case, and identified Baldonado, and others as "snitches." 2RP 439-40. The prosecution contended the communication was relevant and admissible as evidence of the conspiracy between Wood, Jr. and Tisdale. 2RP 240.

The prosecutor became aware of the allegations which led to the witness intimidation charge "through a letter that Mr. Baldonado wrote me from prison, saying that this person in the prison had approached him and was threatening him." 2RP 439-40. Included with the letter were court documents from Wood, Jr.'s case with handwriting in the margins, identifying Baldonado as a "rat". Because the handwriting had been linked to Wood, Jr. and Tisdale, the state explained that it also intended to introduce those notes. 2RP 440-41.

Peale sought to exclude admission of a letter that Tisdale had written to Wood, Jr. which was included with Baldonado's affidavit of recantation. 2RP 450-51. The letter contained numerous gang references and stated, "K-Doe, this should help you out with your legal troubles. If there's anything else I can do let me know. Keep in contact with me groove." 2RP 453.

Peale explained the letter had been in the same envelope addressed to him which also contained Baldonado's signed recantation affidavit. Peale promptly disclosed the affidavit to the prosecutor. Several months later, the prosecutor requested the original documents, believing the envelope or documents had been altered. Peale explained that he did not view the information as privileged, so he took the documents apart to make a new copy for the prosecutor. In doing so, Peale noticed for the first time that the envelope also contained Tisdale's letter which was addressed to Wood, Jr. Although Peale did not

-9-

give the letter to Wood, Jr., he included it with the copies sent to the prosecutor. 2RP 449-50; <u>see also</u> 2RP 1153-54, 2162-63. The prosecutor later referenced the letter in its certification of probable cause as to the witness intimidation charge. CP 144-16; 2RP 250.

The prosecutor acknowledged he had requested a second copy of the information from Peale because he had suspected the letter was from Tisdale but noticed the return address on the envelope in the first copy was missing. 2RP 456. The prosecutor explained the relevance of the letter as follows:

[T]hen it was sent with this letter from Mr. Tisdale to Mr. Wood, which solidified the gang connection that was apparent before, but not nearly as clear [...] which again demonstrates the allegiance, why it was that Mr. Tisdale would potentially agree to act on this request for Mr. Wood, and then the communication back about having done what was asked of him.

2RP 456.

The prosecutor acknowledged the letter and its references

to gang affiliations was prejudicial, but also relevant because it

was the primary explanation for how Wood, Jr. and Tisdale's relationship developed. 2RP 453. Describing the possibility of stopping trial to explore the issue further as a "scare tactic," the prosecutor maintained the State did not intend to introduce the letter and its contents for several weeks, and the trial could proceed while the court reserved ruling as to its admission. 2RP 457.

The court reserved ruling on admission of the letter and gang references until after Peale interviewed Betts about his anticipated gang expertise and what he would testify to regarding the contents of the letter. 2RP 460.

In discussing the anticipated evidence relating to the witness intimidation charge however, the prosecutor concluded its opening statement with the following.

So what happens next is communication between Jerry Wood and someone named Andrew Tisdale. Now, Andrew Tisdale, his nickname is Sleepy. He'd originally known Jerry Wood, but at the time he was with Anthony Baldonado in prison. And Jerry Wood sent him a communication, saying, hey, this is who's causing problems for me in my case. This is who snitched. Can you help me out? So Andrew Tisdale took those instructions from him.

• • •

Tisdale arranges to have a talk with Anthony Baldonado, and he essentially says, hey, you're going to write this affidavit. You're going to take back everything that you said before. Those book pages, you don't know what you were talking about, you're going to take it back, and you're going to give it to me, I'll handle it, I'll send it in, or else.

• • •

And so he does it. He writes an affidavit, he says I take it back, didn't happen, and he gives it to Andrew Tisdale to send in. And Andrew Tisdale sends it off.

•••

Included in the affidavit that he sent back from Anthony Baldonado is a letter to Jerry Wood, saying, hey, I did what you asked, let me know if there's anything else I can do.

2RP 1146-48.

Peale requested a mistrial, noting the opening statement suggested both that Tisdale had communicated his action to Wood, Jr. and that Wood, Jr. had received that communication, "which would be a confirming act of his intent." 2RP 1153-55. Peale argued the only way to establish that Wood, Jr. did not actually receive Tisdale's letter and therefore did not know about it, was for him to testify that the letter was addressed to him and that he did not forward it to Wood, Jr. 2RP 1155.

Peale noted that if he had seen Tisdale's letter earlier, he would not have disclosed it to the prosecutor, "[b]ecause there was no basis to do so. There was no pending charge or investigation of the charge that I was aware of. So it was not specifically evidence." 2RP 1164. When the prosecutor requested a clearer copy however, Peale turned it over because he believed it was subject to disclosure under the rules of evidence and ethics, "because they were, in fact, filing a charge against Mr. Tisdale to which his communication to me may have been relevant." 2RP 1165.

Peale explained he could not testify in Wood, Jr.'s defense and also argue his own testimony. 2RP 1155, 1165.

And because his motion to sever had been denied, Peale argued the only remedy was to allow him to withdraw. 2RP 1155.

The prosecutor maintained the evidence would not reveal that the envelope and letter passed through Peale, thus removing any potential conflict. 2RP 1156-57, 1167-68. Rather, the relevant evidence was Tisdale's communication back to Wood, Jr., that "I essentially did what you asked me to do. It's the completion of their conspiracy." 2RP 1158. The prosecutor offered to stipulate through Betts' testimony that the letter was never delivered to Wood, Jr. 2RP 1157-58.

Peale noted that the situation also created the appearance of a conflict because Wood, Jr. might independently have a concern over Peale's continued representation. Peale therefore asked that independent counsel be appointed to advise Wood, Jr. on whether separate motions for relief were appropriate. 2RP 1159-60.

The prosecutor did not contest the appointment of independent counsel but continued to maintain that there was

no conflict because Peale had no attorney/client duty to Tisdale and was required to disclose the letter when it came into his possession. 2RP 1161-63. As the prosecutor freely admitted, however:

If things proceed the way the State is proposing, and if the Court rules in a way that allows that, we would certainly be seeking to introduce a portion of the letter that Mr. Peale received from Mr. Tisdale to Mr. Wood's detriment. It is incriminating.

In the State's theory of the case, it is a letter from Mr. Tisdale confirming, frankly, an element that the State is required to prove as it pertains to Count IV, the existence of a conspiracy. So in that sense, if the question is did Mr. Peale give us evidence that we're using against his client, I suppose the answer is yes.

2RP 1161-62.

The court denied the motion for mistrial, noting that it had not ruled whether the letter would ultimately be admissible. 2RP 1159-60. The court also declined to conclude whether a conflict, or the appearance of one, existed. 2RP 1168-69. The court instead decided to proceed with trial while allowing Wood, Jr. to speak with independent counsel. 2RP 1168-70, 1192-94.

Trial continued, and three days later, independent counsel, Pete Mazzone, addressed the court after meeting with Wood, Jr. 2RP 1262, 1304-05.

Mazzone opined three conflicts existed. First, Peale had become a potential witness by disclosing the envelope and letter to the prosecution. Second, as a potential witness, Peale was hindered from presenting a complete and proper defense on Wood, Jr.'s behalf. Third, Peale's disclosure of the evidence possibly violated the provisions of RPC 1.6 prohibiting divulsion of client confidences. 2RP 1306-07. Mazzone believed the conflict involved every charge except for the rape. 2RP 1307-08, 1321.

Mazzone outlined three possible ways to resolve the conflict. First, the prosecution could dismiss the witness intimidation count, but that would likely not impact the conflict as it pertained to the murder and kidnapping conspiracies.

-16-

Second, the rape charge could be severed from the remaining counts. Finally, Wood, Jr. could be appointed a different attorney. 2RP 1308-09. Mazzone cautioned that proceeding with trial where Peale represented Wood, Jr. on all four counts was not a "smart way to go" because "I do not believe that Count IV is the only problem that's implicated by this conflict." 2RP 1309-10, 1321.

Mazzone noted that Wood, Jr. was prepared to proceed only if the rape charge was severed from the remaining counts. Mazzone explained that Wood, Jr. was "generally" pleased with Peale's representation on the rape count, "but not with respect to Count II, III and IV, because they would necessarily – if he continued on those counts, that would necessarily impede his ability to present a full and proper defense." 2RP 1314.

Mazzone explained that even if Peale was not a necessary witness for the State, he could still be called as a witness for the defense. Mazzone opined that by receiving and disclosing the envelope and letter Peale had become a potential co-

-17-

conspirator. Moreover, Peale had violated RPC 1.6 by disclosing the evidence because it implicated Wood, Jr. and led directly to the witness intimidation charge. 2RP 1320-21, 1341.

Peale renewed his motion to withdraw as Wood, Jr.'s attorney, confirming that he believed a conflict existed based on both his possible involvement as a witness and Wood, Jr.'s subjective belief about whether he was being zealously represented. 2RP 1310-13, 1321-27. Peale did not believe he had violated RPC 1.6, however. 2RP 1322-23. Peale also opined that the conflict did not apply to the rape charge, and that the murder and kidnapping conspiracy counts did not require proof of the letter. 2RP 1325-26. Peale expressed concern however, that he could be implicated as a coconspirator as to the witness intimidation count based on receipt of Tisdale's letter addressed to him, and therefore needed to protect his own interests at Wood, Jr.'s expense. 2RP 1326-29.

The prosecutor disputed that any conflict existed. 2RP 1315. The prosecutor opined that whether Peale could be called

as a witness was different then whether he was a necessary witness. 2RP 1315-16. He explained that Peale could only testify as to how the letter was received and that it was never delivered to Wood, Jr., but even then, "wouldn't be able to say definitively that he got the letter from Mr. Tisdale." 2RP 1315. The prosecutor maintained that other witnesses could confirm that Wood, Jr. never received the letter. 2RP 1316, 1340-41. The prosecutor also disputed that Peale had violated RPC 1.6 because there was no attorney-client relationship between Peale and Tisdale and therefore he was owed no "ethical duty whatsoever." 2RP 1317.

The prosecutor argued that any conflict only applied to the witness intimidation count. 2RP 1318. The prosecutor maintained that if the letter was excluded at trial any conflict would be cured. 2RP 1318-19, 1340. Describing Mazzone's characterization of Peale as a possible co-conspirator "reckless," the prosecutor maintained that the State was not pursuing any additional charges and that it was to Wood, Jr.'s

-19-

benefit that Peale disclosed the envelope and its contents because it was a recantation affidavit. 2RP 1338-41.

The court concluded there was no conflict as to the rape, and murder and kidnapping conspiracy charges, or how any conflict "would possibly affect counsel's performance." 2RP 1342. It also agreed that excluding the letter cured any conflict as it pertained to the witness intimidation and would allow trial to move forward "on all four counts." 2RP 1318-19, 1342-44.

Mazzone confirmed that Wood, Jr. would not waive any conflicts and asked for a stay of proceedings to file an interlocutory appeal. 2RP 1343-44. The court denied the request stating that it did not see any "direct conflict." 2RP 1343.

Trial continued without the introduction of Tisdale's letter. Several references to the letter were made by State witnesses, however.

Betts testified that the prosecutor had received a letter from Baldonado, the "gist" of which was that Baldonado had

-20-

been intimidated by someone at the direction of Wood, Jr. While Baldonado had signed an affidavit of recantation he really intended to continue assisting the prosecution. 3RP 47-48.

-

Baldonado testified that he was confronted by other inmates about signing an affidavit recanting his allegations against Wood, Jr. As Baldonado explained, he was supposed to give Tisdale the affidavit "because he was supposed to be in contact with the defense attorney[.]" 2RP 2147-48, 2164-69, 2174.

After Baldonado's testimony, Peale moved for a mistrial and renewed his motion to have the witness intimidation count severed. 2RP 2149. As Peale explained, Baldonado's testimony implicated the conflict issue because "it creates an improper implication of participation by the defense in whatever it is that Mr. Tisdale did." 2RP 2149, 2152-54, 2156-58.

The prosecutor acknowledged that he had "neglected to warn [Baldonado] to stay from that ahead of time," but believed the issue could be dealt with by instructing the jury to disregard the testimony. 2RP 2149-51.

The court declined to grant a mistrial, explaining Peale was not mentioned specifically by name, it was a passing reference to "defense counsel," and the reference did not imply Peale was working with Tisdale. 2RP 2154-56. The court offered to sustain a defense objection and instruct the jury to disregard the testimony. 2RP 2154-56, 2159. Peale subsequently objected to Baldonado's testimony in front of the jury and the court sustained the objection and instructed the jury to disregard. 2RP 2159-65.

#### 3. <u>Newly Discovered Evidence.</u>

Before trial, Wood, Jr. told Peale that he had verbally retracted the request to Baldonado. Wood, Jr. also believed that other people in the jail heard the retraction. Peale attempted to locate people who may have heard the retraction. Wood, Jr. identified Raymond Ruiz in a photograph as the person housed in the same unit as himself and Baldonado who was most likely to have heard the retraction. RP 18-19.

Ruiz was not located or interviewed before trial. Peale did not learn what, if anything, Ruiz had heard before Wood, Jr.'s trial and sentencing concluded. RP 18, 23-24, 45-47, 62-63. As Peale explained, Ruiz "was looked for, we could not find him, and then we lost track of him." RP 7, 49-50. Eventually, Peale ceased looking for Ruiz to focus on other "more pressing" matters. 2RP 20. Peale acknowledged that the Snohomish County Jail registry was never examined to determine if Ruiz was still housed there. RP 19-21, 50.

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