FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
1/7/2022 11:22 AM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 100455-9

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

JERRY GEORGE WOOD, JR,

Petitioner.

# ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ADAM CORNELL Prosecuting Attorney

SETH A FINE Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorney for Respondent

Snohomish County Prosecutor's Office 3000 Rockefeller Avenue, M/S #504 Everett, Washington 98201 Telephone: (425) 388-3333

### **

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

#### IV. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

A. THE COURT OF APPEALS PROPERLY DETERMINED THAT AFTER THE STATE DECIDED NOT TO INTRODUCE CERTAIN EVIDENCE, **NEED** CALL DEFENDANT HAD NO TO ATTORNEY AS A WITNESS TO REBUT THAT EVIDENCE.

The petition for review seeks to raise four issues.

Each of these involves the application of settled law to the facts of this case. None of them warrant review.

The defendant first claims that his attorney had a disqualifying conflict of interest. The Court of Appeals stated the rule as follows: "To establish a constitutional violation based on a conflict of interest, a defendant must demonstrate both that his attorney had a conflict of interest and that the conflict adversely affected counsel's performance." Wood, 498 P.3d at 978 ¶ 30 (Slip op. at. 11), citing State v. Dhaliwal, 150 Wn.2d 559, 570, 79 P.3d 432 (2003). The petition for review cites an identical rule. PRV at 29.

The defendant claims that defense counsel created a conflict of interest when he provided the prosecutor a non-privileged letter written by a third party. He argues that this prevented counsel from presenting evidence as to the origins of the letter. PRV at 31. As the Court of Appeals pointed out, such evidence became essentially irrelevant when the prosecutor agreed not to introduce the letter into evidence. Wood, 498 P.3d at 980 ¶ 41 (Slip op. at 16). This supposed "conflict" thus worked out to the defendant's advantage. Instead of having to provide explanations for the damaging letter, counsel got it excluded entirely. The Court of Appeals correctly concluded that there was no disqualifying conflict of interest. This incident does not warrant review.

B. THE COURT OF APPEALS PROPERLY DETERMINED THAT THE DEFENDANT WAS NOT ENTITLED TO HAVE THE CONVICTION VACATED BASED ON NEWLY DISCOVERED EVIDENCE, WHEN THE TRIAL COURT DETERMINED THAT THE EVIDENCE WAS NOT CREDIBLE.

The defendant next claims that he was entitled to have the judgment vacated based on newly discovered evidence. The governing standard is the same as the standard for obtaining a new trial on this basis. See State v. Statler, 160 Wn. App. 622, 631-32 ¶¶ 17-18, 248 P.3d 165 (2011).

A new trial will not be granted on that ground unless the moving party demonstrates that the evidence (1) will probably change the result of the trial; (2) was discovered since the trial; (3) could not have been discovered before trial by the exercise of due diligence; (4) is material; and (5) is not merely cumulative or impeaching. The absence of any one of the five factors is grounds for the denial of a new trial...

State v. Williams, 96 Wn.2d 215, 222, 634 P.2d 868 (1981) (court's emphasis, citation omitted). A trial court's decision to deny a new trial is reviewed for abuse of

discretion. <u>State v. Perez-Valdez</u>, 172 Wn.2d 808, 819 ¶ 20, 265 P.3d 853 (2011).

Here, the "newly discovered evidence" consisted of the testimony of a jail inmate. This inmate had purportedly overheard a conversation between the defendant and A.B. In it, the defendant allegedly said that he "didn't want [A.B.] to do whatever he'd agreed to do as part of their deal." 1 CP (vacate) 20. The trial court found this testimony not to be credible. 1 CP (vacate) 7, finding no. 12. In deciding whether evidence will probably change the result of the trial, "the trial court must evaluate the credibility, significance and cogency of the new evidence." State v. Hutcheson, 62 Wn. App. 282, 297, 813 P.2d 1283 (1991). Appellate courts do not decide witness credibility. In re A.W., 182 Wn.2d 689, 711 ¶ 53, 344 P.3d 1186 (2015). The trial court's credibility determination is therefore not subject to review.

Moreover, there is ample reason to doubt the witness's credibility. The witness claimed to remember that the defendant had told A.B. not to carry out a "deal." The witness did not, however, know what this "deal" was. Why would he remember this incident almost two years later?

It is also questionable whether the witness was in a position to hear what he claimed. At the time, A.B. and the defendant were on the same tier, four cells apart. The witness was on a higher tier at the other end of the cell block. 2 CP (vacate) 220, 223.<sup>3</sup> Because the testimony was not credible, the trial court properly determined that it would not probably change the result of the trial.

Additionally, the trial court correctly found that the defendant had failed to exercise due diligence to locate this witness. 1 CP (vacate) 7, finding no. 18. When an

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The defendant is thus incorrect in claiming that the witness was "housed directly above [A.B.]." PRV at 37.

requires them to seek a continuance in order to obtain that witness's presence. State v. Jackman, 113 Wn.2d 772, 781-82, 783 P.2d 580 (1989). It is undisputed that the defense never sought a continuance to locate this witness. For this reason as well, the trial court correctly denied the defendant's motion to vacate.

C. THE COURT OF APPEALS PROPERLY DETERMINED THAT THE DEFENDANT DID NOT RECEIVE INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL, WHEN COUNSEL'S FAILURE TO LOCATE A WITNESS STEMMED FROM TACTICAL DECISIONS, AND THE WITNESS'S TESTIMONY HAD LITTLE PROBATIVE VALUE.

The defendant next claims that he received ineffective assistance of counsel. This claim is again governed by a well-established legal standard. To establish ineffective assistance, the defendant must show that (1) counsel's performance was deficient and (2) the deficient performance prejudiced the defense. <u>State v. Grier</u>, 171 Wn.2d 17, 32-33 ¶ 40, 246 P.3d 1260 (2011).

When the claim is brought on appeal, the court may consider only facts within the record. <u>Id.</u> at 29 ¶ 32.

The defendant claims that counsel's lack of diligence in locating the witness establishes deficient performance. The record shows, however, that counsel made a tactical decision to focus his investigative efforts elsewhere. 6/18/20 RP 20. Nothing in the record demonstrates that this decision was unreasonable.

Additionally, whether to seek a continuance is a tactical decision. See <u>Jackman</u>, 113 Wn.2d at 782 n. 3. Depending on the circumstances, delaying the trial can greatly help or greatly harm a defendant. Again, there is no showing that counsel's decision was unreasonable.

Even if counsel's actions are considered deficient, there is no showing of prejudice. The new witness would have provided little if any evidence to refute the solicitation charges. A person commits that crime "when, with intent to promote or facilitate the commission of a

crime, he or she offers to give or gives money or other thing of value to another to engage in specific conduct which would constitute such crime." RCW 9A.28.030(1). Subsequent abandonment is not a defense to this charge. See State v. Workman, 90 Wn.2d 443, 450, 584 P.2d 382 (1978) (abandonment not defense to charge of attempt); United States v. Preacher, 631 F.3d 1201, 1204 (11th Cir. 2011) (abandonment not defense to charge of solicitation under 18 U.S.C. § 1958).

The new witness would not dispute that the defendant offered A.B. money to carry out the crimes of murder and kidnapping. To the contrary, he would corroborate that the two of them had made a "deal." 1 CP (vacate) 20. Even if the jury believed that the defendant changed his mind later, that would not constitute a defense. Given the defendant's repeated and emphatic statements about the importance of carrying out the plan, there is no likelihood that a jury would believe that he

never intended for the crimes to be carried out. Ex. 11, 12. Consequently, even if the absence of this witness stemmed from deficient performance, there is no showing of prejudice. This issue does not warrant review.

D. THE COURT OF APPEALS PROPERLY DETERMINED THAT AFTER THE DEFENDANT MADE A DELIBERATE TACTICAL DECISION NOT TO TESTIFY ABOUT SOME OF THE CHARGES, HE HAD NO RIGHT TO RE-OPEN HIS CASE TO PRESENT THAT TESTIMONY.

Finally, the defendant claims that he was denied his constitutional right to testify. The record refutes this claim. The defendant *exercised* that right. In doing so, he made a deliberate decision *not* to testify on certain subjects. See 10/31/19 RP 144. After a defendant rests, he has no constitutional right to re-open his case. United States v. Orozco, 764 F.3d 997, 1001 (9th Cir. 2014). Rather, allowing re-opening lies within the court's discretion. State v. Partin, 88 Wn.2d 899, 902, 567 P.2d 1136 (1977); State v. Barnett, 104 Wn. App. 191, 199, 16 P.3d 74

(2001). The application of that discretion under the particular facts of this case does not warrant review.

The defendant claims that "the Court of Appeals appears to apply this standard differently depending on which party is seeking to reopen its case." PRV at 43. He points to cases upholding trial courts' exercises of discretion in allowing the State to re-open. See State v. Brinkley, 66 Wn. App. 844, 848-49, 837 P.2d 20 (1992). These cases do not establish any inconsistency.

As a practical matter, appellate review of decisions to allow or deny re-opening will be limited. The only decisions that will be reviewed are those allowing a State's request to re-open or denying a defendant's request. If a trial court makes the opposite decision (denying a State's request or allowing a defendant's request), the issue will almost never reach an appellate court: it will be harmless error if the defendant is convicted, or unreviewable if he is acquitted. If an

appellate court decides that *allowing* re-opening was not an abuse of discretion, that does not mean that *denying* re-opening *would* have been an abuse.

Furthermore, few if any of the cited cases involve the situation in the present case: where a party makes a deliberate tactical decision to present particular evidence, and then changes its mind. There is no authority that under such circumstances, denying permission to re-open is an abuse of discretion. Like the other issues raised by the defendant, this issue does not warrant review.

#### V. <u>ARGUMENT WHY RESPONDENT'S ISSUE</u> SHOULD BE CONSIDERED

THERE IS A CONTINUING QUESTION OF SUBSTANTIAL PUBLIC INTEREST CONCERNING HOW TO COUNT CONSTITUTIONALLY-VALID OUT-OF-STATE DRUG CONVICTIONS.

At sentencing, the trial court counted New York convictions towards the defendant's offender score. The Court of Appeals held that there was inadequate proof of the comparability of these convictions. It therefore

remanded the case for re-sentencing.  $\underline{Wood}$ , 498 P.3d at 989 ¶ 99 (Slip op. at 37). The State does not challenge that holding.

In so holding, however, the Court of Appeals considered the effect of a New York conviction for drug possession. It held that even if that crime was comparable to the former Washington crime of possession of a controlled substance, it would not count towards the offender score. Id. ¶ 102 (Slip op.at 38). This portion of the Court of Appeals decision presents a significant recurring issue.

The relevant scoring rule is set out in RCW 9.94A.525(3): "Out-of-state convictions for offenses shall be classified according to the comparable offense definitions and sentences provided by Washington law."

On remand, the State would seek to prove that the New York conviction is comparable to the crime of possession of a controlled substance under former RCW

69.50.4013(1). If that fact is established, the conviction should count towards the offender score.

This court held the Washington statute unconstitutional in <u>State v. Blake</u>, 197 Wn.2d 170, 481 P.3d 521 (2021). The reason was that the statute lacks a knowledge element, so it can penalize innocent conduct. The court pointed out, however, that this problem does not apply to the statutes of any other state. <u>Id.</u> at 186 ¶ 30. In particular, the New York crime of drug possession includes that element. N.Y. Penal Law § 220.06. Since the New York conviction is constitutionally valid, the reasoning of <u>Blake</u> does not apply.

The Court of Appeals nonetheless relied on its recent decision in <u>State v. Markovich</u>, \_\_\_ Wn. App. 2d \_\_\_, 492 P.3d 206 (2021), <u>review denied</u>, 2022 WL 43647

(2022).<sup>4</sup> The court reasoned that since a Washington conviction for drug possession would not be counted, an out-of-state conviction should not be counted either. <u>Id.</u> at 216 ¶ 35. The problem with this reasoning is that it is based on nothing in the statute. RCW 9.94A.525(3) says that courts should use "comparable offense definitions ... provided by Washington law." There is nothing that limits this to *constitutionally valid* offense definitions.

If the out-of-state statute shared the same constitutional problem as the Washington statute, there would be no issue. The unconstitutional out-of-state conviction would not be any more valid than an unconstitutional Washington conviction. Here, however, there is no constitutional obstacle to counting the New York conviction.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> This court denied the defendant's petition for review. The State did not cross-petition on the offender score issue.

The question is thus purely one of legislative intent. At the time of the New York offense, the Washington legislature intended to treat unlawful drug possession as a felony. That intent has been thwarted as to Washington crimes. That does not mean, however, that courts should equally disregard the legislative intent as to out-of-state crimes.

Subsequent statutory amendments have not eliminated the continuing importance of this issue. Effective May 13, 2021, the Legislature reduced drug possession to a misdemeanor. Laws of 2021, ch. 311, § 9. Out-of-state convictions are, however, compared with the law that existed in Washington at the time of the prior offense. State v. McCorkle, 88 Wn. App. 485, 495, 945 P.2d 736 (1997), aff'd, 137 Wn.2d 490, 973 P.2d 461 (1999). This question thus remains significant for all out-of-state crimes that were committed before the effective date of the 2021 amendment.

There are numerous offenders who have out-of-state drug convictions for crimes committed before that date. How to count such convictions is a continuing question of substantial public interest. If review is granted, the court should review this issue under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

#### VI. CONCLUSION

This court should deny review. If review is granted, the court should determine that at re-sentencing, any New York convictions for possession of a controlled substance should count towards the offender score.

This brief contains 2810 words (exclusive of appendices, title sheet, table of contents, table of authorities, certificate of service, and signature blocks).